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PREFACE.

Notwithstanding all the care that has been spent on the prep-

aration of this work, the Author cannot say that he is satisfied.

Though he has done all in his power to collect information relating

to the history of each person mentioned, the book must appear to

his readers, as it appears to himself, defective in execution and

meagre in detail. But had he made perfection his standard it would

never have been printed. It is now given to the members of the

Kennedy family, in the hope that it may preserve a lively interest

in their past history.

The original design was to collect the names of the descendants

of William Kennedy and his wife Mary Henderson—she was some-

times called Marian—from the time of their settlement in Bucks

County, in 1730, with the view of placing the manuscript in some

library, for safe keeping and future reference
;

but it has been

thought best to accede to the request of many members of the

family, to have it published for their use.

With the view of keeping the work within reasonable size, and

in order to make it practically useful, it has been found necessary to

mention only, and that in a very brief way, the main or essential

facts in each person's history, viz., the birth, marriage, number of

children, profession or business, religion, politics, and residence.

This rule has been varied from, in a few instances, in order to intro-

duce the biography of some men of historic interest. It is regretted

that, in some instances, correspondents have furnished only the

names of the members of their family, without any connecting

history.



KEY.

(*) Refers to the descriptive part,

(t) Extinct.

The dark figures are used to bring the name down, so as to put

the children together.
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HISTORICAL.

Kennedy—Celtic, Ceanna-thighe—meaning, it is said, the head of a sept or

clan. The family descend from the ancient Earls of Carrick, in Ayrshire, and seem

to have changed their name from Carrick to Kennedy in the fourteenth century. The

chief was Kennedy of Dunewe. afterwards Earl of Cassilis (now Marquis of Ailsa). In

the fifteenth century the power of this great house, in the shires of Ayr and Gallo-

way, was set forth in a popular rhyme :
—

"
By AVigton and the town of Ayre,

Port Patrick and the Cruives o' Cree,

Nae man need think for to bide there,

Unless he court wi' Kennedie."

The foregoing is from the "
Patronyniica Britannica,

^^

by Mark Anthony Lower.
" Cruives is a trap made of sticks, placed in a river to catch salmon and other fish."

Albert Edward, Prince of Wales, is the present Earl of Carrick. He has ti-avelled on

the Continent by that title.

The following is from Arthur's "
Etymological Dictionary of Family and Chris-

tian Names :"—
" Kennedy—from the Gallic or Celtic words Kean-na-ty

—the head of the house,

or chief of the clan. Ceannaide signifies also a shopkeeper, a merchant."

The following is from C. S. Sims's " Scottish Surnames--'' page 63 :
—

"
Kennedy, the chief of the clan. Duncan de Carrick, living in 1153, was father of

Niehol de Carrick, whose son, Roland de Carrick, tern. Alexander III., took the name

of Kennedy, and was the ancestor of the family."

A charter of Nigel, Earl of Carrick, to Roland de Carrick and his heirs, of the

chieftainship of his clan; and the right of leading them, under the chief, was confirmed

in 1241, and reconfirmed by Robert II. Roland de Carrick was killed in the Holy

War; probably he commanded the militai-y expedition organized in 1268, by Adam,
Earl of Carrick, against the Saracens. Mention is made that a tract of land was con-

firmed to him by Alexander III., who reigned from 1249 to 1286.
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Hobert de Bruce, Lord of Annandale, was married, in 1271, to Martha Margaret,

daughter of the Earl of Carrick, and his sole heiress
;
and in her own right. Countess

of Carrick. and by virtue of her right, de Bruce became Earl of Carrick. She was

the ward of Alexander III., and he was so much opposed to the marriage that he

deprived her of her estate, but afterwards he restored it. Their eldest son, Robert the

Bruce, was born March 21, 1272. By the resignation of his father he became Earl

of Carrick in 1293. He was crowned King of Scotland, at Scone, March 27, 1306.

He carried on an active war against England for twenty-three years. Amongst other

adventures, in 1307 he attacked his patrimonial castle of Carrick, at midnight, and

drove the English soldiei'S out of it. Finally, England, in the year 1328, renounced her

claim to the crown of Scotland, and on the 9th of July, the following year, the Bruce

died. His son David, in 1328, when only four years old, was married to Jane, sister

of Edward of England. He ascended the throne as David II., on the death of his

father, in 1329; crowned at Scone, November 14, 1331. After many vicissitudes, he

died in 1371, without issue.

Walter Steward married Margery, King Robert the Bruce's only daughter by his

first wife. Robert Steward, their son, to whom the crown was entailed, by authority

of the Scotch Parliament, in default of male issue by David, was crowned King of

Scotland in 1371. He was known as Robert II., and was the first of the Stuart

dynasty; his son succeeded him as Robert III. This name was originally written

Steward, then Stewart. Queen Mary, after her return from France, was the first to

write it Stuart.

Edward Bruce, another son of Martha Margaret, Countess of Carrick, was crowned

King of Ireland in 1316, and killed on the battle-field in 1318. All the other children

of the countess, except Mary, were executed by the English government.

A charter of David II. to John MacKennedy (Mac signifies son of), the captain

of Clan Muntercasdufi", authorizes "James Kennedy, who had married Mary Stewart

(the daughter of King Robert III., who was the second monarch of the Stuart dynasty),

and heirs male, to exercise the captainship, head, and commandment of his kin."

Previous to the fourteenth century surnames were not known in Scotland. Indi-

viduals were distinguished by an afiix to their Christian name, indicating some pecul-

iarity of their personal appearance, their business, trade, district or clan to which

they belonged. Roland de Carrick probably signifies Roland of the District or Earl-

dom of Carrick. The hereditary title or office of Kennedy was conferred on him

during the thirteenth century, by the highest lawful authority of the land.

The name of John MacKennedy merely signifies John the son of Kennedy. Dur-

ing the early part of the fourteenth century, the descendants of Roland de Carrick

adopted Kennedy as a surname, consequently all the numerous Kennedys of the

present day descended from the Ayrshire family, who are lawfully entitled to the name,

are his lineal descendants. This explanation will make clear the apparent inconsistency

between the quotations from Mark Anthony Lower and C. S. Sims.
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We have not been able to trace the exact relationship between the Countess of Car-

rick, her son, King Robert the Bruce, and the Kennedys ;
we therefore have compiled

the facts relating thereto, as they appear in Scotch history, and without comment will

leave the readers free to form their own judgment.

\

The name of O'Cinnidh appears in Irish history during the tenth century. He was

Regent of Munster. Anglicized Kennedy, it signifies a nation or kind. His descend-

ants succeeded to the throne, and were very prominent people, but they all took diiferent

names, and the name of Kennedy, for a time, became extinct in Ireland
;
but after a

lapse of several centuries it was I'evived, as a surname. As they do not seem to have

been connected with the Ayrshire family of Kennedys^ we dispose of the subject with

this brief notice.

James Kennedy, Archbishop of St. Andrews, whose mother was the aunt of King
James II. of Scotland, is said to have been one of the most powerful and influential

statesmen of Scotland of his time. Through his influence Henry of England, after

his misfortunes, was received and protected by Scotland.

For the purpose of refreshing the memory it seems proper that we should introduce,

although in a very brief way, a few important facts connected with the Scotch history

of the sixteenth century, in order to show the position of the Kennedy family during

the religious and political trials of that period. The Kennedys early threw their in-

fluence in favor of the Reformed Religion. At first they were somewhat divided
;

but as early as 1538, Alexander Kennedy, of Ayr, a finely-educated young gentleman,

only eighteen years old, a poet, was burned at the stake, in Glasgow, for a poetical

satire against the Franciscan Friars."O^

John Knox was born 1505
;
he was educated for the priesthood; professed himself

a Protestant in 1542. This same year the Scotch Parliament authorized the reading

of the Scriptures in the vulgar languages. The Confession of Faith of the Reformers

was adopted in 1560.

The Scotch Parliament abolished the Papal jurisdiction, and prohibited the celebra-

tion of the mass, August 2-1, 1560. The third violation of the law, in celebrating the

mass, was punishable by death.

Gilbert Kennedy, Earl of Cassilis, was one of the ambassadors sent to negotiate the

marriage of Queen Mary to the Dauphin of France. The earl died while in Paris.

Queen Mary returned to Scotland in 1561, very soon after the death of her first

husband, the King of France. She was executed February 7, 1587. Jane Kennedy
and Mistress Curie were the only two of her maids of honor who were permitted to

attend the queen to the scafibld.
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QUINTON KENNEDY.

Quinton Kennedy, the uncle of the Earl of Cassilis, and Abbot of Crossra<i;uel, who

is very highly spoken of for his intellectual and moral character, in 1559 challenged

Wallock to a discussion on the Sacrifice of the Mass. The challenge was accepted.

Kennedy claimed that they should use, as authority, the ancient doctors' interpreta-

tion of the Scriptures, which the other party would not agree to, and thus ended the

matter.
^

On the 28th of September, 1562, a formal agreement was signed by John Knox

and Quinton Kennedy, for a written argument on the Sacrifice of the Mass. The

discussion was in the town of Mabole. In addition to the notaries to record the pro-

ceedings there were admitted, as spectators for each side, forty noblemen and persons

of distinction. The place was not sufiicient for the comfortable accommodation of so

large a company. The argument, however, was continued for three days, but it proved

uninteresting to the spectators, and, through the influence of the Earl of Cassilis, it

was abandoned as being unprofitable. Each party claimed the victory, and each failed

in accomplishing their expressed desire to have it renewed at a dififerent time and

place.

Quinton Kennedy died in August, 1564; and it is said that after his death he was

canonized as a saint. His name, however, does not appear at Rome amongst the

saints, but the subject of this debate is there canonized.

A SINGULAR INCIDENT, JUNE 26, 1629.

The lightning entered a room in Castle Kennedy, the seat of the Earl of Cassilis,

in Ayrshire, where several children, with their dogs, were playing at the time
;
the

dogs were killed, but the children escaped without injury.

THE KENNEDYS WERE LOWLANDERS.

None of the lowland clans had a distinctive tartan, and the kilts were not worn by

the men
;
but they often clothed their children in this beautiful dress.

KENNEDYS IN THE SEVENTEENTH CENTURY.

The Kennedys, though Protestants, were not in favor of the high-handed political

measures of the seventeenth century. They were opposed to the decapitation of King
Charles I. (January 30, 1619), and they gave only a passive submission to the admin-

istration of Oliver Cromwell.

There was a joint Commission of Seven appointed by the Estates and Kirk of Scot-

land, who set sail on the 17th of March, 1649, for the Hague, to present to the Prince

of Wales a proposition, that if he would sign the 'Covenant, and agree to adopt the

Presbyterian form of worship, that Scotland would acknowledge him as their lawful

sovereign. They arrived on the 26th of March, and on the 19th of May Charles
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declined to siga the document presented; but on his arrival in Scotland, on the 23d
of June, and before he landed, he signed what is known as the Covenant.

The distinguished nobleman, John Kennedy, the Earl of Cassilis, who was also an

influential ruling elder in the Presbyterian Church, was appointed by both parties,

and, armed with his double commission, he was the acknowledged '-chief person" in

bringing about the restoration of King Charles II.

The Kennedys' uncompromising support of Presbyterianism, and love of law and

order, rendered them liable to be crushed between the two conflicting powers of

Charles II. and Cromwell. Some of them went to Holland, and many of them re-

moved from Ayrshire to the North of Ireland, and from thence to America.

There was a commission appointed by Cromwell, in 1652, for the purpose of apprais-

ing the property of two hundred and sixty prominent Scots, residing in Ulster, Ireland,

with the view of giving them a corresponding value in land at other parts of Ireland,

to be occupied by them, and in this way to neutralize their influence. Amongst their

names we find the following:
—Quinton Kennedy, David Kennedy, Lieut. Col. Robert

Kennedy, Anthony Kennedy, and Fergus Kennedy. This order was not executed,

but we find that Lieut. Col. Robert Kennedy was removed the next year.

BATTLE OF BOTHWELL BRIDGE.

Sir Archibald Kennedy, Laird of Culzen, captain of the militia troops in 1685, was

charged with great cruelty, in arresting and bringing to judgment the rebellious Cove-

nanters, after their disastrous defeat at Bothwell bridge, in 1679.

CHAIN OF THE KENNEDYS FROM SCOTLAND TO IRELAND, AND
THENCE TO AMERICA.

John Kennedy, sixth Earl of Cassilis, was one of the three Scotch noblemen ap-

pointed to act as lay assessors to the Westminster Assembly, in 1643. He never,

however, attended. His brother, Col. Gilbert Kennedy, who was with Cromwell at

the battle of Marston Moor, had two sons who were Presbyterian ministers—Thomas

and Gilbert. Rev. Thomas Kennedy, the eldest, was chaplain to Gen. Munro, who

came to Ireland with his army in 1642. Mr. Kennedy afterwards settled in Carland.

He refused to conform—that is, to use the prescribed formula for public worship
—and

was imprisoned in Dungannon for several years, by the order of the Primate of Armagh.

During his long imprisonment his wife was not allowed to see him, or even write to

him. She, however, continued daily to bring him food and change of linen, which

she gave to the jailer, to be handed to him. After the release of her husband, she

learned from him that the jailer had appropriated her presents to his own use. Some

years after this the jailer, being in want, applied to Mrs. Kennedy for food; instead

of refusing him. she filled his bag with meal, saying. In this way I have my revenge.

Mr. Kennedy's trials were so great that he thought at one time of removing to

America, but his death, iu 1714, ended all his troubles. Two of his sons, Thomas

and John, were Presbyterian ministers.

It is believed that Robert and William Kennedy, the brothers who emigrated from

Ireland and settled in Bucks County, Pennsylvania, in 1730, were the descendants of
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Col. Gilbert Kennedy, probably liis eldest son Thomas's sons or grandsons. We are

led to believe that the founders of the family in America were influenced in the choice

of their location, in order to enjoy the society of their cousin, Mrs. Catherine Ken-

nedy Tennent, the wife of Rev. William Tennent, who had settled in Bucks County
two years before their arrival. .

REV. GILBERT KENNEDY.

The youngest son of Col. Gilbert Kennedy was ordained by the Presbyterian Church

as a minister of Girvan, in Ayrshire, in 1651. He was ejected from the church in

1662, for nonconformity. He continued to preach in the glens by starlight, where

the children of the neighborhood were brought to him to be baptized. He was com-

pelled finally to flee from Scotland to Holland
;
from there he returned to Ireland in

1668, and settled in Dundonald, near Belfast, where he died, February 6, 1688, and

was buried in the aisle of the church. He had a son named Gilbert, who was ordained

a minister of TuUylish in 1704
;

also a daughter, Catherine, who was married May
15, 1702, to a student of theology, named William Tennent. Mr. Tennent was or-

dained a deacon of the Episcopal Church, July, 1704, and a priest, September 22,

1706. In 1716 Mr. Tennent left Ireland with his family for America. In 1718 he

made a written application to the Presbyterian Synod of Philadelphia, stating his

reasons for desiring to leave the Episcopal Church and to join the Presbyterian. The

statement being satisfactory, he was received
;
and for several years he preached in the

neighborhood of Philadelphia and New York. In 1726 he was called to the Presby-

terian church on the Neshaminy, Bucks County, Pennsylvania. In 1728 he built

the celebrated Log College, on a tract of fifty acres of ground adjoining his house.

This land was presented to him by his cousin, James Logan, secretary for William

Penn. At this period this was the only place in America, west of the New England

States, where a young man could receive a classical and theological education, to prop-

erly fit him for the ministry.

The General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church placed such value on the asso-

ciation that in 1811, when they were about to establish a more perfect system of

education, many advocated placing the proposed new colleges on the same ground ;

others advocated Chambersburg, Pennsylvania; but finally it was concluded to place

them at Princeton, New Jersey.

The attentive reader will notice that the Kennedys were positive characters, and

men of position and influence. There seems to have been a very close connection

between them and the early Reformation in Scotland; the Westminster Assembly;
the establishing of Presbyterianism, not only in the North of Ireland but also in

America; and up to the time of writing, 1880, the family have retained their loyalty

to the Presbyterian Church, with few exceptions, and they generally the result of

marriages with persons belonging to other denominations.
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(Letter A.)
—Robert Kennedy emigrated from tke Nortli of Ireland, in company

with his younger brother William, and settled in Bucks County, Pennsylvania, in 1730.

He died March 26, 1776, in his eighty-third year. His wife died June 3, 1773,

aged 73. They are buried at the Stewart Burying Ground, near Bunker Hill, Tini-

cum Township, Bucks County.

They had one son, William Kennedy, a major in the Revolutionary Army. He

was killed by some outlaws and Tories, named Doanes, in September, 1783, in the

fortieth year of his age. He left five children.

Robert Kennedy
to

Jane McCalla,

to Harriet Piper,

4 children died without issue.

Henry Kennedy to Ellen Davis
;
3 children.

Frank G. Kennedy to Margaret Lukens
;

5 children.

T 1 Ttr r, -.1 TT 1 Robert F. Kennedy to Rebecca Coambs ;
2 children.

John McCa,lla Kennedy j j^^^^ ^^ Kennedy, Jr., to Carmita de Solms; 4 children.

Myra M. Kennedy to Thomas M. Adams; 5 children.

Ella L. Kennedy to William Elliott.

Emily B. Kennedy to Geo. H. McFadden; 2 children.

William M. Kennedy.
William McCalla Kennedy, unmarried.
Robert Kennedy, unmarried.
Jane Kennedy, unmarried.

Rebecca Kennedy to

James M. Hirst,

Myra Kennedy
to Andrew C. Bai'clay,

f Jane K. Hirst.

I Mary Hirst.

-j
Hannah Hirst to James Selfridge ;

1 child.

Myra Hirst to James Gibbs
;

5 children.

Virginia Hirst to George Pierie; 4 children.

 

William Barclay to Miss Heiskill.

Jane Barclay, unmarried.
John Barclay to Miss de vSilver; 2 children.

Matilda Barclay, unmarried.

Emily Barclay, unmarried.
Charles Barclay to Miss Savage; 4 children.

Eliza Barclay to Mr. de Coursey; 3 children.

John Kennedy to Isabella Wigdon,
H. Kennedy Fenton.
Hattie L. Fenton.

William Kennedy to Miss Ferris,

TTT-T,- T' 1 f Franeine Kennedy.Wilham Kennedy,
{ j^^^ Kennedy.

Elizabeth Kennedy to John M. Fenton,

Franklin Kennedy.
Annabel Kennedy to George Mann

;
1 child.

Jas. Ferris Kennedy died in St. Clara, Cal. ; left a large family.
Martha Kennedy to Mr. Krotz

;
had 4 children.

Wilmina Kennedy to Mr. Sexton; had 1 child.

Anmira Kennedj*.

Mary Jane Kennedy.
Louisa Kennedy.

Polly Kennedy and Nathan Shoemaker,

Robert Shoemaker.
Charles Shoemaker.
William Shoemaker.

A.

Jane Kennedy and Nathan Coalston.
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John McCalla Kennedy has been a very active and useful man. Early in life he

engaged in a successful shipping business. For some years he has been an influential

member of manufacturing and railroad corporations, and for many years a director of

the Pennsylvania Railroad Company. Mr. Kennedy has commanded the respect of

the community, and his prolonged life has been rewarded by the accumulation of a

suflBciency of this world's goods to relieve him, in his old age, from the cares of a con-

tinued business life. His large family of children reside in or near Philadelphia, and

occupy useful and respectable positions in society.

(No. 1.)
—"William Kennedy was born in Londonderry, Ireland, not far from Bel-

fast, in 1695. He married Miss Mary Henderson; she was sometimes called by the

synonymous Scotch name, Marian,

Their first son, Thomas, was about a year old when Mr. Kennedy removed his

family from Ireland, in 1730, and, in connection with his older brother, Eobert,

settled in Bucks County, Pennsylvania, where he resided until the time of his death,

in 1777
;
his remains are buried in this county. The names of their children can

be found on the chart.

The name of Henderson frequently appears in Scotch history. A man by the name

of Henderson read prayers, from the formula written by John Knox, at the High
Church of St. Giles, at eight o'clock in the morning of the Sabbath on which the

unfortunate attempt was made, a few hours thereafter, in the same church, to intro-

duce the prescribed formula for public worship, that brought on the celebrated riot

that, in its results, proved so unfortunate for the Stuart dynasty.

Rev. Alexander Henderson was the leading delegate from Scotland to the West-

minster Assembly, and the principal author of the Assembly's Catechism.

(No. 3.)
—James Kennedy, son of William and Mary, or Marian Kennedy, as she

was sometimes called, was born in Bucks County, Pennsylvania, in 1730, probably

very soon after his parents arrived in America. He was married in 1761 to Jane

Maxwell, daughter of John Maxwell, and sister of Gen. Maxwell of the Revolutionary

Army. At the time of their marriage she was in her nineteenth year. She died

September 7, 1784, and was buried in Bucks County. The names of their twelve

children are on the connected chart. Afterwards, Mr. Kennedy married Miss Jane

Macalla
;
there was not any issue by this marriage, and they both died October, 1799,

and were buried in the same grave, at Pequea, about six miles from the Gap, Lan-

caster County, Pennsylvania. In 1788 Mr. Kennedy purchased a farm of 480 acres,

at the Gap, Lancaster County. The title to this property has passed by bequest, and

at the time of writing, 1880, part of it is owned and cultivated by his grandson, Syl-

vester Kennedy; the balance of it is owned by his great-great-granddaughter, Mrs.

Emma Kennedy Lewis, of Brooklyn, New York. This farm will still be favorably

noticed by the traveller on the Pennsylvania Railroad, when at a point near the west

entrance of the Gap, and opposite Belle Vue Presbyterian Church, looking north.
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The beautiful surroundings, for a distance of five miles, are brought directly in view,

and richly reward the traveller's observation. Small farms of one hundred acres, in

high state of cultivation, dotted with handsome dwellings, present the appearance of

adorned pleasure grounds surrounding luxuriant country seats.

Mr. Kennedy brought up all of his children in the Presbyterian faith. It was the

custom for good people, in those days, to consecrate one of their sons to the service of

the Lord; with this object in view he gave his son Robert the best classical education

that the country at that time would admit of, and in due time he entered the ministry.

An account of his useful life can be found in another part of this book.

(No. 11.)
—William Kennedy, son of James and Jane Maxwell Kennedy, was

born in 1766. He died at Easton, Pennsylvania, in 1850. On January 28, 1798, he

married Sarah Stewart; they had eight children. (See chart.)

When only fifteen years old, Mr. Kennedy offered his services to the Continental

Government, and served as an aid to his uncle, Gren. Maxwell. In politics he was a

Democrat, and represented the counties of Sussex and Warren in the Legislature of

New Jersey for several successive sessions, presiding with honor and dignity over the

upper house. In the same counties he served for many years as judge of the courts.

A man of much natural ability, he possessed, throughout his long course of public

life, a wide influence in that section of the State.

His lively sympathy led him to take an active part in relieving the sufi'erings occa-

sioned by the war of 1812.

In religion a Presbyterian, he was an elder in the church at Greenwich.

(No. 17.)
—Robert Kennedy, son of James and Jane Maxwell Kennedy, was born

at the Gap, Lancaster County, Pennsylvania, July 4, 1778. He died at the Welsh Run,
Franklin County, October 31, 1843, and was buried at the Red Church, Greencastle.

Mr. Kennedy received his elementary and classical education at a school not far from

his father's, taught by Mr. Grier; his collegiate course he received at Dickinson

College, Carlisle, where he graduated with honor, September 20, 1797. He made a

profession of religion at the Pequea Presbyterian Church, soon after leaving college.

He commenced the study of theology with the Rev. Nathaniel Sample, then pastor of

Lancaster and Middle Octorara Presbyterian Churches, on the 20th of August, 1799.

He was licensed to preach by the New Castle Presbytery, and appointed to supply the

pulpit at Octorara half of his time. On the 9th of October, 1802, he accepted a call

to East and Lower West Conococheague Presbyterian Churches, since known as Green-

castle and Welsh Run; and on the 13th of August, 1803, he was ordained. He

continued to preach here until the 9th of April, 1816, when he removed to Cumber-

land, Maryland, to take charge of a church and a classical seminary. He remained

here until 1825, when he returned to his farm at the Welsh Run. He taught a clas-

sical school at Mercersburg, and preached half of his time at the Welsh Run, and the

other half at some of the surrounding churches.
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Mr. Kennedy was a very industrious, practical man, and supplemented his salary

witli the proceeds of his school, and his farm of about 400 acres of rich land. He
was married February 17, 1801, to Jane Herron, daughter of John Herron, and sister

of the late Rev. Francis Herron, D.D., of Pittsburg. She died May 31, 1803. On
June 5, 1806, he was married to Mary Davidson, daughter of Elias and Agnes
McDowell Davidson, of Greencastle. Miss Davidson was born August 6, 1785, and

died March 14, 1845. The names of their children are on the chart.

Mr. Kennedy was a sound theologian, and was ranked as a good preacher by the

competent judges of Carlisle Presbytery. He was a fine classical scholar. He wrote

with good taste, and expressed his views with great clearness.

The difficulties in the Presbyterian Church commenced in Carlisle Presbytery. Mr.

Kennedy was sorely vexed at the approaching troubles, and threw himself into the

breach, and used all his influence and power to prevent the division of the church.

At the meeting of the Synod of Philadelphia, at Glettysburg, in 1834 (see October

number, 1860, of Presbyterian Quarterly Review, published in Philadelphia; also,

Men of Mark of Cumberland Valley), he made a speech in opposition to the Act

and Testimony, whicli was very much admired for its condensed wit, argument, and

persuasion; but the Presbyterian ship had drifted too far into the rapids to prevent her

plunging over the falls. It is only necessary to add the almost-prophetic extract of a

document signed by Mr. Kennedy :
—" We cannot but hope that the time will come

when we will again be united on the basis of our excellent Constitution." (See Har-

risburg Presbytery, Pastoral Letter, 1840.) A hope which was fulfilled about thirty

years after his death.

Mr. Kennedy's memory was held in such esteem at the Welsh Run that the trustees

have had the chartered name of the church changed to the Robert Kennedy Memorial

Presbyterian Church.

Mr. Kennedy was a Federalist, afterwards a Whig.

(No. 89.)
—James Kennedy Moorhead, son of William and Elizabeth Kennedy

Young Moorhead, was born September 7, 1806, in Halifax Township, Dauphin County,

Pennsylvania.

At the age of sixteen he was apprenticed to William Linville, of Lancaster County,

to learn the art of tanning.

In 1827 he engaged as a contractor on the Susquehanna and Juniata Divisions of

the Pennsylvania Canal, in which business he continued until 1838.

About this time he became interested in the Pioneer Packet Line, between Phila-

delphia and Pittsburgh, which rendered his removal to the latter place necessary.

In 1839 he was appointed, by President Van Buren, Postmaster at Pittsburgh.

In 1846 he was elected President of the Monongahela Navigation Company, which,

under his administration, has been a continuous success from its organization. He has

been very extensively engaged in successful manufacturing enterprises in Pittsburgh.

Mr. Moorhead has also held the position of president in several railroad and telegraph

enterprises.
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In 1858 he was elected a Representative to Congress from the Pittsburgh District,

and was re-elected for four successive terms. At this most critical period of the

nation's history he proved himself one of the most active, able, and influential sup-

porters of the government.

Mr. Moorhead has made liberal use of his large fortune in support of religious and

charitable institutions in Pittsburgh, and is widely known and much respected.

In 1830 he married Jane Logan, of Lancaster County. They have had eight

children. (See chart.)

Mr. and Mrs. Moorhead celebrated their Golden Wedding, December 17, 1879,

surrounded by their children, grandchildren, and one great-grandchild, and many rela-

tives and friends. Mr. Moorhead is a leading member in the Presbyterian Church.

Since its organization he has been an influential member of the Republican Party.

(No. 90.)
—Joel Barlow Moorhead, son of William Moorhead and Elizabeth Ken-

nedy Young Moorhead, was born at Moorhead's Ferry, Dauphin County, Pennsylvania,

April 13, 1813. He was married February 7, 1837, to Elizabeth Hirons, daughter of

John Hirons, of Wilmington, Delaware. Their children's names are on the connected

chart. Mr. Moorhead was early engaged in the construction of Pennsylvania State

internal improvements, and for several years was State Manager of the Columbia

Railroad, owned by the State. He also took a very active part in the construction of

the Philadelphia and Erie Railroad, the Schuylkill Navigation Company, Monongahela

Navigation Company, internal improvements of the State of Kentucky, and the local

railroad system of the District of Columbia, in all of which he acquitted himself with

credit and to the entire satisfaction of those with whom he was associated. For several

years Mr. Moorhead has been very extensively and successfully engaged in the mining

and manufacturing of iron in its crude state. He is also connected with a great many

financial, charitable, and benevolent institutions. Mr. Moorhead, early in life, acted

with the Democratic Party. About the time the attempt was made to introduce

slavery into Kansas he abandoned the party, and since has been an active Republican.

He was brought up in the Methodist fiith. His wife was a Quaker, and, by mutual

agreement, they have connected themselves with the Episcopal Church, and have

brought up all their children according to the order of that faith. Mr. Moorhead is

a large, fine-looking man, very frank in his manner, and unostentatious. He has led

a very active life, and always enjoyed the confidence and respect of the community.

Since his marriage he has resided in or near Philadelphia.

(No. 91.)
—William Garraway Moorhead, son of William and Elizabeth Ken-

nedy Young Moorhead, was born July 7, 1811, at Moorhead's Ferry, Dauphin County,

Pennsylvania. Mr. Moorhead's business life commenced very early. At the age of

seventeen he was appointed to important work in connection with the Juniata Canal,

and held other State appointments, in connection with railroads, while still very young.

6
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In 1834 he removed to Sandusky, Ohio, and engaged in mercantile pursuits, in

partnership with his brother, James Kennedy Moorhead. While residing in Sandusky
he married Sarah Cooke, the only daughter of the Hon. Elewtheros Cooke, a distin-

guished lawyer and member of Congress. The names of their four children are on

the chart. Mrs. Sarah Cooke Moorhead died in Philadelphia. Afterwards Mr. Moor-

head married Mrs. Cornelia Badger.

Mercantile life not being congenial to Mr. Moorhead, he very soon returned to

Pennsylvania, and was identified with many of the public works then in progress, and

gave valuable aid in procuring funds for various railroads and canals then in course of

construction.

In 1846 Mr. Moorhead was appointed by President Polk, and confirmed by the

Senate, Consul of the United States to Valparaiso, Chili; and, in addition, for several

years the duties of Minister from the United States were performed by him. The

following year he was appointed purchasing agent for the United States squadron in

the Pacific. It was during this period that gold "was discovered in California, and

before leaving Chili Mr. Moorhead organized the firm of Moorhead, Whitehead & Wad-

dington, who made large contracts with the millers of Chili for supplying flour to

California. The operations of this firm were very large, the proceeds from the sales

of flour, during the fifteen months of the firm's business, aggregating over $5,000,000.

On his return to the United States he re-embarked in the construction of public works.

He was elected President of the Philadelphia and Erie Railroad Company, and was

instrumental in its successful completion.

In 1861 he formed a partnership with his brother-in-law. Jay Cooke, under the firm

name of Jay Cooke & Co., and engaged in a general banking business. The firm was

very successful, and established branches in Washington, New York city, and London.

At this period the government had exhausted its resources. Jay Cooke and Wm.
Gr. Moorhead advanced the idea to their personal friend, the Secretary of the Treasury,

S. P. Chase, that the wealth of the nation was really in the hands of the people, and

that the money could be borrowed from them. Jay Cooke & Co. acted as the agents

of the United States Grovernment
;
and it was at their suggestion, and through their

instrumentality, aided by the press, that the government loan was speedily popular-

ized, and placed on sale in every important town in the country. There can be no

doubt but that Jay Cooke and Wm. Gr. Moorhead, in thus aiding the government,

were important factors in the successful termination of the Rebellion.

In 1873, when the unexpected crash overwhelmed our country, Jay Cooke & Co.

were unprepared for it; having advanced millions of dollars to the Northern Pacific

Railroad Company, and having made large investments in railroad securities, which

were unavailable at the time, the firm, so prosperous but a short time previous, was

obliged to succumb.

Mr. Moorhead has always been an active and benevolent man, and enjoys the esteem

of those who know him. He is now (1880) an elder in the Presbyterian Church in

West Philadelphia, and is active in church work.

In politics he has always been a conservative Democrat.

For a more minute account of Mr. Moorhead's very active life the reader is referred

to the Biographical Encyclopedia of Pennsylvania.
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(No. 99.)
—John Hereon Kennedy, son of Rev. Robert and Jane Herron Ken-

nedy, was born at Herron's Run, near Shippensburg, Pennsylvania, Xoveniber 11, 1801.

He died at Canonsburg, December 15, 1840. Was married in Philadelphia, February

15, 1827, to Harriet McCalmont. Their issue are named on the chart.

Mr. Kennedy received his elementary and classical education under his father's

care. He graduated, with honor, at JeflPerson College, Canonsburg, in May, 1820. He
studied theology at Princeton Seminary, and in October, 1822, was licensed by Carlisle

Presbytery to preach ;
and in November, 1825, he was ordained and installed pastor

of the Sixth Presbyterian Church of Philadelphia. He resigned this charge Decem-

ber, 1829. Previous to his settlement in this church he had been appointed chaplain

to the government ship Brandywine, selected by the government to carry Q-en. Lafay-
ette back to Prance; this appointment, however, failed to reach him until after his

installation. On the 11th of March, 1830, he received a call from the Presbyterian
Church of "Center," and in connection therewith the appointment of Professor of

Mathematics in Jefferson Colle2;e.

Rev. Matthew Brown, D.D., says of him: "That as jin instructor he was discrimi-

nating, accurate, and lucid in his illustrations; as a member of the faculty he was

energetic, fearless, and ready to share the responsibility of a disciplined government ;

as a preacher he was instructive, solemn, searchable and forcible
;

as a pastor he was

laborious and faithful; as a writer he was characteristically lucid, simple and concise."

Mr. Kennedy was a Whig. (See Men of Mark of Cumberland Valley.)

(No. 103.)
—James Maxwell Kennedy, son of Rev. Robert and Mary David-

son Kennedy, was born at Welsh Run, Franklin County, Pennsylvania, February 24,

1809. He died at Philadelphia, March 9, 1848. Was married in Philadelphia,

November 23, 1836, to Sibilla Stone Morris, daughter of Evan Morris, of Chester

County. Their children's names are on the chart.

Mr. Kennedy received his education at his father's classical academy at Cumberland,

Maryland. Soon after his arrival at manhood he repaired to Philadelphia, to engage
in the wholesale dry goods business, at first as clerk, but after two years he commenced

business for himself, as the head of the following successful firms, as they from time

to time changed:
—

Kennedy, Bowman & Co
, Kennedy, Julian & Co., and James M.

Kennedy & Co.

Mr. Kennedy was a gentleman of fine personal appearance and elegant manners.

He was very resolute and brave. In religion a Presbyterian ;
in politics a Whig.

(No. 107.)
—Elias Davidson Kennedy, son of the Rev. Robert and Mary David-

son Kennedy, was born the 27th of December, 1819, at Cumberland, Maryland. Six

years afterwards his father removed to Welsh Run, Franklin County, Pennsylvania.

Elias Davidson lived with his parents until 1839, when he came to Philadelphia, to

enter the wholesale dry goods store of his brother, James M. Kennedy; here he re-

mained, part of the time as clerk and afterward as a partner, until his brother's death,
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March 9, 1848. In December of that year he formed a partnership with another

brother, under the name '' E. D. & W. T. Kennedy." The new firm purchased a stock

of general dry goods, &c., and determined to start for California, W. T. Kennedy

going overland, in the company of his cousin, Thomas B. Kennedy, and Elias David-

son Kennedy taking passage, with the stock of merchandise, in the "
Levant," from

Philadelphia, via Cape Horn. After a tedious and perilous voyage of seven months,

the " Levant
"
anchored off San Francisco, and early the next morning Mr. Kennedy

was met by his brother, who had been in California some weeks, and was dismayed and

discouraged at their prospects.

The two brothers decided that Sacramento was the most available place to dispose

of their merchandise, and from the day of their arrival in that city they did a large and

profitable business. Twice was their house destroyed
—once by fire and once by flood

—but notwithstanding these, and many drawbacks, their business continued to prosper.

In 1851 they added banking to their general business. Mr. Kennedy made in all four

distinct trips to California.

On the 20th of April, 1854, he married Miss Agnes Shields Clarke, only daughter

of Thomas Shields and Eliza Thaw Clarke. Mr. Clarke was a prominent shipping

merchant of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, and highly esteemed. Immediately after their

marriage they left for a tour in Europe. Some time after their return, accompanied

by his wife, he went to California to settle the estate of his brother, William T. Ken-

nedy, who died in Philadelphia, December 8, 1855. While in California their

daughter Alice was born. In the fall of 1857 they returned to Philadelphia, where

they have since resided. They have had two daughters and five sons. (See chart.)

It was Mr. Elias Davidson Kennedy who first proposed to build a church, and after-

ward furnished the means for its erection, at Welsh Run, Franklin County, Pennsyl-

vania, in memory of his father's years of labor as pastor of the congregation centering

around that place. This building was completed about 1870, and stands on or near

the site of the old church, built in 1760, in which his father had preached so many

years. It is a neat and tasteful edifice, and is called the " Robert Kennedy Memorial

Presbyterian Church."

Whilst Mr. Kennedy partakes of that nervous, quick temperament and positive

manner peculiar to the Kennedys, he in appearance resembles the Davidsons; is tall

and well proportioned, with dark complexion, black eyes, black hair and whiskers.

In business Mr. Kennedy was a man of sagacity and integrity, and success has

attended all his undertakings. In religion he is a Presbyterian, and in politics a

Republican.
—

{Confr-ibuted hy T. B. K.)

(No. 259.)
—Thomas B. Kennedy was born August 1, 1827, in Warren County,

New Jersey. His father, Hon. James J. Kennedy, removed to Chambersburg, Penn-

sylvania, in 1839. Mr. Kennedy entered the sophomore class of Marshall College at

fourteen, and graduated with honor in 1844. He read law with the Hon. Alexander

Thompson, of Chambersburg, and was admitted to the Franklin County bar in 1848.

The next year he crossed the plains as the leader of a company bound for California.
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In 1851 he returned to Chambersburg and commenced the practice of law. He

served one term as District Attorney, with general approbation. He afterwards went

into partnership with the Hon. James Nill. The business of the firm rapidly increased,

so that upon the elevation of Judge Nill to the bench of the district, in 1862, his

partner found himself in control of the largest and most lucrative practice at the bar,

which he has steadily maintained. Mr. Kennedy has freely used the income from his

large estate in sustaining Wilsons College, and all the religious and benevolent institu-

tions of the place. He was married April 22, 1856, to Ariana Stuart Riddle. Soon

after marriage they spent a year travelling in Europe. They have had six children.

(See chart.) Mr. Kennedy has been President of the Cumberland Valley Railroad

and its connections for some years. The present success of the road is principally the

result of his good judgment and untiring industry.

Mr. Kennedy is a gentleman of fine personal appearance, with black eyes, black hair

and whiskers. He is a Presbyterian 5
in politics a Democrat.

(No. 283.)
—Rev. William Henry Green, D.D., LL.D., son of George and Sallie

Kennedy Green, was born at Groveville, near Bordentown, New Jersey, on the 27th

of January, 1825. He graduated at Lafayette College, Easton, Pennsylvania, 1810,

where he remained a short time as tutor. He studied theology in Princeton, and,

upon the completion of his course, in 1846, he was made assistant teacher of Hebrew.

After remaining three years in this capacity, during a portion of which he supplied

successively the pulpits of the First and Second Churches in Princeton, he became the

pastor of the Central Church, in Philadelphia. In 1851 he was elected Professor of

Oriental and Biblical Literature in the Theological Seminary at Princeton, as successor

of Dr. J. Addison Alexander. In 1859 the title of the Professorship was changed

to that of Oriental and Old Testament Literature. In 1861 he published a Grammar

of the Hebrew Language; in 1863 a Hebrew Chrestomathy ;
in 1866 an Elementary

Hebrew Grammar; in I860 the Pentateuch Vindicated from the Aspersions of Bishop

Colenso; in 1870 he translated Zochler's Commentary on the Song of Solomon; he

also published a Commentary on the Book of Job. His publications are too numerous

here to mention, and the reader is referred to the Index Volume of the Princeton

Review, page 185. At the time of writing (1880) Doctor Green is engaged with

the Bible Revision Committee, composed of fifty-two eminent English and twenty-

seven equally distinguished American divines, of different denominations, in translating

the Bible from the original tongues into the English language. He is chairman of the

Old Testament Committee.

Doctor Green was married June 24, 1852, to Mary Elizabeth Caldwell, daughter of

Stephen and Elizabeth Caldwell, of Philadelphia. She died March 29, 1854, without

issue. He was again married April 28, 1858, to Elizabeth Hays, daughter of Doctor

Samuel and Eliza Keen Hays. They have had two children. (See chart.)

Doctor Green is a large man, fully six feet high, with a good physical constitution,

and can bear an immense amount of professional work. He is a thorough Calvinistic

Presbyterian in faith, and Republican in politics. He stands very high as a classical and

theological scholar, and is ranked as a good preacher by the most competent judges.
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(No. 505.)
—Kev. Sylvester F. Scovel, son of the Rev. Sylvester Scovel, D.D.,

President, of Hanover College, was born at Harrison, Ohio, December 29, 1835;

graduated at Hanover College in 1853, and immediately commenced the study of

theology; was licensed to preach on the 7th of April, 1857, three months after attain-

ing majority; was ordained and installed pastor of the Presbyterian Church of JefFer-

sonvillo, Indiana, October 28, 1857
; accepted a call to Springfield, Ohio, January 7,

1861; accepted a call to the First Presbyterian Church of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania,

January, 1866.

A man of scholarly tastes and attainments; an able preacher and a faithful pastor;

a public-spirited citizen
;
an accurate thinker and writer, he was appointed to read one

of the essays before the General Presbyterian Council, which met in Philadelphia,

September, 1880.

Mr. Scovel was married, October 6, 1857, to Miss Caroline Woodruff, daughter of

C. Woodruff, formerly of Newark, New Jersey. The names of their children can be

found on the foregoing chart.
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RESTATEMENT OF No. 7.

The history of the descendants of Col. Arthur and Mary Kennedy Erwin was fur-

nished by a very intelligent member of that connection. The author, relying upon the

correctness of this report, was under the impression that the family was nearly extinct
;

but soon after " The Kennedy Family" had been published, it was apparent that this

report included only the third generation, numbering 29 persons, whereas the aggre-

gate number of their descendants, to this time, amounts to 295. It was evident that

this very meagre account would leave a wrong impression, and it was thought best to

give the following brief statement of the main facts :
—

Col. Arthur Erwin and his second wife, Mary Kennedy, were married in 1768 or

1769. She died July 29, 1817. Col. Erwin was a patriotic and very prominent man of

his day. As early as December 17, 1776, he was ordered by George Washington to

march his regiment to Philadelphia and to report for duty to General Israel Putnam.

The original order is now in the hands of Henry N. Paul, Esq., of Philadelphia. The

boats used by the Revolutionary army to cross the Delaware river below Frenchtown

were built by Col. Erwin. He was assassinated by a squatter while temporarily at the

house of Daniel McDufFy, at Tioga Point, Luzerne County, Pennsylvania, on the 9th

of June, 1791. At the time of his death he resided at Erwinna, Tinicum township,

Bucks County, Pennsylvania, and was the richest man in that county. He owned in

the township over two thousand acres of the most valuable land
;

also in Luzerne

County, Pennsylvania, between four thousand and five thousand acres
;
also in Steuben

County, New York, thirty thousand acres, on which latter have since been built the

following towns :

—
Erwin, Painted Post, Cooper, Canisteo and Hornellsville. His nu-

merous descendants are cultured and influential, enjoying the advantages of wealth.

and worthily proud of their ancestry. The following well-known names are included

in the present generation:
—The Pauls of Belvidere, New Jersey; Randolphs of

Easton, Pennsylvania; Erwins, Coopers, Hickmans, Townsends, Stevens, Morses,

Peases, and many others living on or near the patrimonial domains in Steuben County,

New York, and other places.
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